Old Dominion University

ODU Digital Commons

Counseling & Human Services Theses & Dissertations

Counseling & Human Services

Winter 2010

Inpatient Group Psychotherapy: Predicting Attendance and Participation

Sharon E. Silverberg Old Dominion University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/chs_etds

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons, Counseling Psychology Commons, Psychiatric and Mental Health Commons, and the Psychoanalysis and Psychotherapy Commons

Recommended Citation

Silverberg, Sharon E.. "Inpatient Group Psychotherapy: Predicting Attendance and Participation" (2010). Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), Dissertation, Counseling & Human Services, Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/8dmd-cj08 https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/chs_etds/98

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Counseling & Human Services at ODU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Counseling & Human Services Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ODU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@odu.edu.

INPATIENT GROUP PSYCHOTHERAPY:

PREDICTING ATTENDANCE AND PARTICIPATION

by

Sharon E. Silverberg B.S., Old Dominion University, 1998 B.S., Old Dominion University, 1998 M.A., University of New Haven, 2003

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Old Dominion University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

COUNSELING

OLD DOMINION UNIVERSITY December 2010

Approve by

Theodore Py Remley. Jr. (Chair)

Renee Seav (Member)

Garrett McAuliffe (Member)

ABSTRACT

INPATIENT PSYCHOTHERAPY GROUPS: PREDICTING ATTENDANCE AND PARTICIPATION

Sharon Elizabeth Silverberg Old Dominion University, 2010 Dissertation Chair: Dr. Theodore P. Remley, Jr.

Inpatient group psychotherapy is one of the primary talk therapy interventions offered to patients necessitating acute psychiatric treatment. Research indicates that patients who attend and participate in group psychotherapy sessions while admitted to psychiatric hospitals have a lower rate of recidivism and are more successful in the community utilizing lower levels of psychiatric care. Unfortunately, not all patients attend group psychotherapy while admitted to a psychiatric facility and therefore do not benefit, possibly contributing to non-compliance with community-based treatment and readmissions to inpatient psychiatric institutions for stabilization and safety. This lack of participation in group psychotherapy deprives the patient the opportunity to share thoughts and feelings related to the stressors and issues leading to the psychiatric inpatient admission. It also denies the patient opportunities to engage additional supports and learn coping skills to better deal with stressors in the future to prevent additional psychiatric inpatient hospitalizations.

The intention of this study was to determine whether demographic and clinical characteristics of patients admitted to private psychiatric hospitals can be used to predict attendance and participation in psychotherapy groups. The data were archival based on 150 randomly selected patients' records from patients admitted to a hospital over a one

year span (June 2009-May 2010). Forward step hierarchical regression and chi-square were the statistics used to analyze the data for this study. Findings indicated that patients who were diagnosed with co-morbid disorders, prescribed antipsychotic medications, or not compliant with taking prescribed psychotropic medications were more likely to not attend or not participate in psychotherapy groups offered while psychiatrically hospitalized. The following characteristics of patients were not associated with their attendance or participation in psychotherapy groups while hospitalized: age, marital status, ethnicity, gender, socio-economic status, suicidal ideation, homicidal ideation, psychosis, diminished capacity, length of admission, number of readmits, history of prior admissions, Five Axis diagnosis, Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) intake, GAF discharge, substance abuse history, anti-depressant medications, anti-anxiety medications, mood stabilizer medications, sedative medications, psycho-stimulant medications, and hypnotic medications. The results of the analysis also indicate that there is a relationship between leader credentials and patients' attendance and participation in offered psychotherapy groups. However, there was no relationship between topics presented and patients' attendance and participation.

Dissertation Committee: Dr. Renee Seay Dr. Garrett McAuliffe

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

There are many people who I would like to acknowledge and thank for all of their support through this part of my academic journey. I would like to thank my entire family, the professors and paraprofessional staff in the Counseling program at Old Dominion University, my dissertation committee, and all of my friends, colleagues, and peers who have supported, motivated, and encouraged me. Without the love and support of those in my life, I would not been able to accomplish this task. I am extremely grateful and eternally indebted to each of you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| LIST OF TABLES vi | iii |
|-----------------------------------------|-----|
| CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION | |
| Statement of the Problem 1 | |
| Rationale for the Study | |
| Purpose for the Study | |
| Definitions of Terms | |
| CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | |
| Group Psychotherapy Treatment 5 | |
| Inpatient Treatment | |
| Inpatient Group Psychotherapy Treatment | |
| Summary 8 | |
| CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY | |
| Research Design | |
| Purpose Statement | |
| Research Questions and Hypotheses | |
| Participants | |
| Instrumentation | |
| Procedures13 | |
| Data Analysis14 | |
| Validity Threats | |
| Potential Contributions16 | |
| CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS | |
| Data Review17 | |
| Findings19 | |
| Research Question One | |
| Research Question Two | |
| Research Question Three | |
| Research Question Four | |
| CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION | |
| Summary of Findings | |
| Research Question One | |
| Research Question Two | |
| Research Question Three | |
| Research Question Four41 | |
| Limitations | |
| Implications for Practice43 | |
| Implications for Future Research | |
| Conclusion | |

| CHAPTER SIX: MANUSCRIPT | |
|-------------------------|----|
| Abstract | |
| Method | |
| Results | |
| Discussion | |
| Conclusion | |
| References | 63 |
| REFERENCES | 69 |
| APPENDIX | 85 |
| CURRICULUM VITAE | |
| | |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1 | Descriptive Demographics of Research Participants19 |
|---------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Table 2 | Descriptive Clinical Characteristics of Research Participants I20 |
| Table 3 | Descriptive Clinical Characteristics of Research Participants II |
| Table 4 | Regression Equations Predicting Percentage of Group Participation by Clinical Characteristics |
| Table 5 | Regression Equations Predicting Percentage of Participation in Psychotherapy Groups by Clinical Characteristics |
| Table 6 | Chi-Square of Attendance Frequency by Leader Credentials27 |
| Table 7 | Chi-Square of Participation Frequency by Leader Credential28 |
| Table 8 | Chi-Square of Attendance Frequency by Group Psychotherapy Topic29 |
| Table 9 | Chi-Square of Participation Frequency by Group Psychotherapy Topic31 |

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

Statement of the Problem

Over the last several decades, inpatient psychiatric hospitals have evolved from long term psychiatric care to short term acute psychiatric treatment (Baker & Geise, 1992; Springer & Silk, 1996; Vaughn et al., 1995). Currently in the United States, individuals admitted to a psychiatric hospital typically stay an average length of between 7 to 12 days, or until they can be safely treated at a lower level of care (e.g., outpatient treatment or partial inpatient treatment) and safely maintain in the community (Compton, Craw, & Rudisch, 2006). While a patient is admitted to a psychiatric facility, the primary focus is placed on medication management (Yalom, 1983). Since psychopharmacology is the primary therapeutic focus for psychiatric patients, not psychotherapy, and in combination with the large number of patients admitted to a psychiatric hospital at any given time, individual psychotherapy is typically not offered for each patient (Santa Ana et al., 2007).

Group psychotherapy is the primary talk therapy offered to patients while admitted to a psychiatric inpatient facility (Farley, 1998; Strauss & Burgmeier-Lohse, 1994; Tschuschke, 2004; Weiss, 2010; Yalom, 1983). Research has shown that it is beneficial for patient outcomes post discharge if they participate in group psychotherapy while admitted to a psychiatric hospital (Page & Hooke, 2009). Unfortunately, not all patients chose to attend group psychotherapy sessions offered while admitted to the psychiatric facility and therefore do not benefit. This lack of participation in group psychotherapy deprives the patient the opportunity to share thoughts and feelings related to the stressors and issues leading to the psychiatric inpatient admission (Vaughn et al., 1995). It also denies them of the chance to receive additional support in learning coping skills to better deal with stressors in the future, thereby possibly preventing additional psychiatric inpatient hospitalizations (Blake et al., 1990; Dacey, 1989).

Group psychotherapy plays a large role in patients' recovery while admitted to a psychiatric hospital and their success upon discharge (Page & Hooke, 2009). Therefore, it is important to understand what clinical factors contribute to a patient's participation and attendance of inpatient group psychotherapy. The ability to predict a person's attendance and participation in inpatient group psychotherapy will help staff members identify those who may need additional support and encouragement to attend. Behavioral strategies, such as verbal instructions and feedback, have been studied and shown to significantly increase patient's attendance in inpatient group therapy (Blake, Owens, & Keene, 1990). This assistance may increase the likelihood of the patients attending psychotherapy groups while admitted to the hospital, even as early as the first day. Moreover, it may also increase the likelihood of success upon discharge into the community to a lower level of care and decrease the rate in inpatient psychiatric admission recidivism.

Rationale for the Study

Inpatient group psychotherapy has been shown to be effective and makes efficient use of the patients' time and the hospital and staff's resources (Kösters et al., 2006; Yalom, 1983). Research also has indicated that group therapy in an inpatient setting has been effective in predicting a positive outcome for a patient's post discharge (Page & Hooke, 2009). This study will help to identify characteristics in patients that lead to nonattendance or non participation in group therapy while admitted to the psychiatric facility. The information gleaned from this study may increase the ability of hospital staff to engage patients who may have characteristics predictive of not attending or participating in group therapy. Increasing attendance and participation in in-patient group therapy sessions would help in providing a more positive outcome for a patient's future success in the community.

Upon examination of the literature, there is a large gap in the scholarly research focused on characteristics of patients who engage in and benefit from inpatient group therapy. Due to decreased availability of beds and length of stay in psychiatric inpatient facilities, it is important to maximize the therapeutic benefit to the admitted patient to help decrease recidivism. This study will contribute to the limited literature in the counseling field regarding inpatient group therapy and stimulate future research.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study is to examine possible predictive factors contributing to a patient's attendance and participation of inpatient psychotherapy groups by utilizing historical data. Data included demographic information (gender, race, age, ethnicity, and SES); admission status (voluntary versus involuntary); DSM-IV TR diagnosis (Axis I, II, III, IV, and IV); compliance of current prescribed types of medications (antidepressants, antipsychotics, etc.); number of days admitted; number of admissions during the time period of the study (one year); attendance and participation as documented by hospital staff on group therapy progress notes; topics presented in the group therapy sessions; and the credentials of the mental health providers leading the group therapy sessions.

Definitions of Terms

Psychiatric Hospital: A hospital solely for the purpose of providing psychiatric care, to include medication management and psychotherapy, for patients who are unable to remain safe in the community due to mental health impairments.

Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment: Acute psychiatric hospitalization for patients in danger of harming themselves or others, or who are unable to care for themselves in the community, based on mental health impairment.

Involuntary Inpatient Admission: Status of a patient admitted to a psychiatric hospital involuntarily. Patient deemed unable to consent to treatment or who refused the inpatient treatment option at admission.

Voluntarily Inpatient Admission: Status of a patient admitted to a psychiatric hospital voluntarily. Patient must be deemed able to consent to treatment at the time of admission.

Group Psychotherapy: Therapy in a group format made up of individuals with similar problems or stressors, led by a mental health professional. Group members work through personal issues and concerns within the group in order to gain perspective and receive peer support.

Inpatient Group Psychotherapy: A therapeutic milieu created in an inpatient setting for patients who are currently hospitalized to attend group therapy with other patients experiencing similar stressors in order to work through issues which led to being hospitalized.

CHAPTER TWO

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Group Psychotherapy Treatment

Group psychotherapy began after World War I in the 1920s in North America. It was at this time that Edward L. Lazell began working with war veterans diagnosed with schizophrenia at St. Elizabeth's Hospital in Washington, D.C. Lazell (1921) stated that group psychotherapy assisted patients with increased socialization and decreased fears regarding the therapist. In 1931, L. Cody Marsh worked with groups of patients hospitalized in Massachusetts utilizing group exercises and activities to help patients with their rehabilitation (Kibel, 1992). In 1983, Irvin Yalom developed a method of inpatient group therapy at Stanford University. Yalom's focus on inpatient psychotherapy was based around a dynamic approach to a patient's interpersonal learning with special attention to the *here and now* (1983).

Group psychotherapy has been shown to be an effective treatment intervention for patients suffering from psychiatric illness including Mood Disorders (Burlingame & Barlow, 1996; Kuhns, 1997; Murphy, 1997; McNamee et al., 1995; Scott & Stradling, 1990), Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (Van Noppen et al., 1998), Social Phobias (Fanget, 2000; Heimberg et al., 1998; Hope et al.; 1995; Scholing & Emmelkamp, 1993), and Eating Disorders (Davis et al., 1990; Davis et al., 1997; Hartmann et al., 1992; Mitchell et al., 1993; Peterson et al., 1998).

Group psychotherapy integrates both the interpersonal and interactional climate established and maintained by the group itself (Lambert, 2004). Participating in group psychotherapy creates a sense of value in the patient. The group member's interactions with each other are the primary delivery of the change that will bring about a positive affect (Furhiman & Burlingame, 1990). After decades of research, group psychotherapy treatment has shown to be effective even as a sole intervention for some patients suffering from psychiatric illness (Fuhriman & Burlingame, 1994).

Inpatient Treatment

Inpatient psychiatric hospitals have evolved over the last 40 years from long-term psychiatric care facilities to a short term acute psychiatric treatment option (Baker & Geise, 1992; Kibel, 1992; Springer & Silk, 1996; Vaughn et al., 1995). According to Yalom (1983), this shift was caused by increased knowledge and effectiveness of psychopharmacology, the creation of crisis theory, and the decreased use of somatic therapies. Yalom also stated that, prior to this shift in psychiatric inpatient treatment, psychiatric patients experienced admissions to remote state psychiatric wards for a prolonged period of time and had lower recidivism rates.

Spivack (2008) pointed out that the "primary task of the short-term unit is the rapid stabilization and discharge of patients who are attempting to recover from acute episodes of mental illness." Compton et al. (2006) agreed that in the last decade, much attention has been placed on length of stay due to funding agencies (e.g., managed care; Farkas-Cameron, 1998; Weiss, 2010), administrative costs of care, and the focus of treating patients in the least restrictive setting appropriate for their psychiatric care. Currently, individuals admitted to a psychiatric hospital in the United States typically stay an average length of between 7 to 12 days, until the patient is able to be safely treated at a lower level of care (e.g., outpatient treatment or partial inpatient treatment) in the community (Compton, Craw, & Rudisch, 2006).

During a patient's admission to a psychiatric facility, the primary focus is placed on medication management (Yalom, 1983). Other than medications, treatment modalities offered to patients may include art therapy, recreational therapy, and group psychotherapy. However, group psychotherapy is the typically the only consistent psychotherapy offered to patients while admitted to a psychiatric hospital (Rhea, 1977).

Inpatient Psychotherapy Group Treatment

Inpatient group psychotherapy has been recognized as an important element in treating individuals suffering from acute mental illness (Brabender & Fallen, 1993; Kösters et al., 2006; Seidler, 2000; Yalom, 1983). Yalom created a structured and stylized method of group therapy for the inpatient setting in 1983 taking a *utilitarian and non-analytic* approach (Kibel, 1992). Yalom's style of inpatient group psychotherapy addressed issues for the mildly mentally ill as well as the severely mentally ill, so that all patients would benefit from group psychotherapy while admitted in the hospital (1983).

In 1977, Parloff and Dies acknowledged the expansive role that group psychotherapy was beginning to take in the treatment of patients admitted to a psychiatric hospital. Currently, group psychotherapy is the primary and preferred talk therapy offered to patients when admitted to a psychiatric inpatient facility (Farley, 1998; Strauss & Burgmeier-Lohse, 1994; Tschuschke, 2004; Weiss, 2010; Yalom, 1983). Given the shortened length of stay (7-12 days) for patients to be admitted to psychiatric hospitals, utilizing group psychotherapy as a primary therapeutic intervention utilizes not only clinical effectiveness but also involves the highest number of patients per group psychotherapy intervention (Yalom, 1995). Yalom believed that issues raised during a group psychotherapy session on an inpatient unit must be addressed at that time due to the time sensitive nature and short admissions. Patients may have the opportunity to participate in only one group, or several groups (Weiss, 2010) depending on their length of stay at the psychiatric facility and their attendance of group sessions offered while hospitalized (Vaughn et al., 1995).

In an inpatient setting, group psychotherapy acts as a strong therapeutic intervention due to the positive effect it has on a patient's progress towards discharge. One positive effect of inpatient psychotherapy groups is their ability to facilitate improvement in a patient's social interaction skills (Schindler, 1999). Other therapeutic benefits that are implemented in a single group inpatient psychotherapy session timeframe include patient support from staff and peers and encouraged involvement in the session, both of which provide structure (Yalom, 1983; Yalom & Leszcz, 2005) as well as feelings of safety and trust (Farkas-Cameron, 1998).

Research has established that there aret positive patient outcomes for those who participate in group psychotherapy while in inpatient treatment (Kösters et al., 2006; Page & Hooke, 2009). Farkas-Cameron (1998) further added that it is an important therapeutic goal to create a positive experience for patients participating in group psychotherapy while admitted to a psychiatric hospital so that they will want to continue with group psychotherapy upon discharge in the community.

Summary

It is widely acknowledged that inpatient group therapy has been demonstrated to be effective (Farkas-Cameron, 1998; Kanas, 1985; Kösters et al., 2006; Page & Hooke, 2009; Yalom, 1983) and makes efficient use of the patients' time and the hospital and staff resources (Yalom, 1983). Research indicates group therapy in an inpatient setting has shown effectiveness in predicting a positive outcome for patients' post discharge as well as decreasing rates of recidivism (Page & Hooke, 2009). Unfortunately, not all patients attend group psychotherapy while admitted to the psychiatric facility and therefore do not benefit (Vaughn et al., 1995). This lack of participation in group psychotherapy deprives the patient the opportunity to share thoughts and feelings related to the stressors and issues leading to the psychiatric inpatient admission. It also denies them of supports and learning coping skills to better deal with stressors in the future to prevent additional psychiatric inpatient hospitalizations (Dacey, 1989).

Upon examination of the literature, there is a large gap in the scholarly research focused on characteristics of patients who engage in and benefit from inpatient group therapy. Due to decreased availability of beds and length of stay in psychiatric inpatient facilities, it is important to maximize the therapeutic benefit to the patient while admitted to help decrease recidivism. This study will seek to determine whether patient attendance and participation in inpatient group psychotherapy sessions can be predicted.

CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

This chapter introduces the methodology that was used in exploring the predictive relationship between patient (1) characteristics and (2) attendance and participation with inpatient psychotherapy groups. It includes a description of the research design, a review of the research questions, population and participant selection procedures, and data collection and analyses. Finally, the limitations of this research study are delineated.

Quantitative Research Design

Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study was to examine possible factors that might predict a patient's attendance and participation in inpatient psychotherapy groups by utilizing historical data. Data examined included demographic information (gender, race, age, ethnicity, and social and economic status); admission status (voluntary versus involuntary); DSM-IV TR diagnosis (Axis I, II, III, IV, and IV); compliance with current prescribed types of medications (antidepressants, antipsychotics, etc.); number of days admitted, number of admissions during the time period of the study (one year); attendance and participation as documented on group therapy progress notes; topics presented in the group therapy sessions; and the credentials of the mental health providers leading the group therapy sessions.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The research questions and hypotheses that were addressed in this study were as follows:

Research Question 1: To what degree do the clinical characteristics of admission status, diagnosis, medications, previous psychiatric inpatient admissions, and number of days admitted predict a patient's attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?

Hypothesis 1:

• 1: There is a significant relationship between clinical characteristics and a patient's attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized.

Research Question 2: To what degree do the following variables of admission status, diagnosis, medications, previous psychiatric inpatient admissions, and number of days admitted predict a patient's participation in inpatient psychotherapy groups?

Hypothesis 2:

• 2: There is a significant relationship between clinical characteristics and a patient's participation in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized.

Research Question 3: To what degree do the group psychotherapy facilitator credentials predict a patient's participation or attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups? Hypothesis 3:

• 3: There is a significant relationship between the group psychotherapy facilitator credentials and a patient's participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized.

Research Question 4: To what degree do the topics presented in the group psychotherapy session predict a patient's participation or attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?

Hypothesis 4:

• 4: There is a significant relationship between the topics presented in the group psychotherapy session and a patient's participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized.

Participants

Patients were randomly selected from a data base of approximately 2,000 patients admitted over the last calendar year. Patients were selected at random using a random number generator and applying the results to a spread sheet list of all patients provided by an administrative staff member at a private psychiatric hospital in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States. Patients selected included adults 18-65 admitted for mental health issues. According to Cohen (1992), assuming a moderate effect size at the p=.80 level, a minimum sample of 107 patients were needed to have adequate power for hypotheses that are tested at the .05 alpha level. In order to strengthen the study, records of 150 patients were utilized in the data collection process.

Instrumentation

I created an instrument in the form of a Microsoft Excel Document to collect and record pertinent historical data for the data retrieved from the patients' charts. There was an anonymous code given to each patient whose information was used in this data collection process. The information collected was taken from admission and discharge assessments and evaluations from multiple sources. These sources included, but were not limited to, psychiatrist admission and discharge assessments, social work assessments, temporary detention order (TDO) prescreen assessments, and group therapy progress notes. The following information was obtained for the purposes of this research study from the patients' charts and documented by me.

- (1) Demographics (gender, age, marital status, SES)
- (2) Diagnoses (Axis I, II, III, IV)
- (3) Mental Status (suicidality, homocidality, psychosis, etc.)
- (4) Substance Abuse History
- (5) Medical Conditions (Current or relevant past conditions [e.g. traumatic brain injury])
- (6) Number of psychotherapy groups offered
- (7) Number of psychotherapy groups attended in part or whole
- (8) Quality of participation in the psychotherapy groups attended based on progress note documentation (*not attended, actively engaged, passively engaged, not engaged*)
- (9) Credentials of group facilitators (MA, MSW, LCSW, LPC)
- (10) Group psychotherapy topic categories presented by facilitators (general process, self- awareness, coping skills, grief and loss, anger management, relaxation exercises, healthy relationships, problem solving)

Participant ID Sheet

Participant ID's were utilized to ensure confidentiality. No names were written on the data collection sheets. Participants were assigned an ID based on the order chart received during the random selection process.

Procedure

Patients were randomly selected from a data base of approximately 2,000 patients admitted over the last calendar year by an administrative staff member at a private hospital in the Southern part of the United States. Data on patients admitted between June 1, 2009 and May 31, 2010 were collected and assigned a number starting with the number one. A random number generator was utilized to randomly select 150 numbers; the data from patients who had corresponding ID numbers were used for the study. Patients selected for the study included adults 18 to 65-years-old admitted to the psychiatric hospital primarily for mental health issues needing acute care for stabilization and community safety. Data was collected on-site at the psychiatric hospital. I recorded the information on a digital version of the record sheet with no identifying information in the file. I gathered and recorded the participants' information in a private room. The flash drive and spread sheets were stored in a locked file cabinet to ensure complete confidentiality. The data was protected by a fingerprint pass code security feature on a 4MB external flash drive.

Data Analysis

The study used a correlational design where the goal was to predict group attendance and participation from several individual difference variables. Data was analyzed by using SPSS (version 17) software. Frequency distributions were utilized to report data such as gender, age, race/ethnicity, diagnosis, admission status, prescriptions taken during admission, and number of group therapy sessions offered, attendance, and quality of attendance. Correlations were completed to examine the significant relationships between demographic variables and the predictor variables. Regressions were used to test the hypothesis. Demographic variables found to be significantly related to any predicted or outcome variable were included in the regression.

Validity Threats

Creswell cited many potential threats to internal and external validity when conducting research (2009). He stated "internal validity threats are experimental procedures, treatments, or experiences of the participants that threaten the researcher's ability to draw correct inferences from the data about the population in an experiment" (p. 230). Internal validity is also defined as the ability of the research design to rule out or make alternative explanations of the results (Marczyk, Dematteo, & Festinger, 2005). Selection is a type of validity threat that could pose a threat to this study. To reduce this validity threat, patients were randomly selected for the study using a random number generator and a spreadsheet of the patients provided by a hospital administrative staff member who had no direct patient contact and was not aware of the goals of this study.

External validity is defined by how generalizable the results of the research study can be applied to the population (Marczyk et al., 2005). Creswell (2009) stated that external validity threats "arise when experimenters draw incorrect inferences from the sample data to other persons, other settings, and past or future situations" (p. 162). This type of validity threat may be a problem due to characteristics of the participants, timing of the experiment, and uniqueness of setting. The interaction of the setting and treatment may be an issue in this study. Characteristics of the participants may prevent the results from being generalized to individuals in other settings. Therefore, generalizability of the results of this study may be limited.

15

Potential Contributions

Upon examination of the literature, there is a large gap in the scholarly research focused on characteristics of patients who engage in inpatient group therapy. Due to decreased availability of beds and shortened length of stay in psychiatric inpatient facilities, it is important to maximize the therapeutic benefit to the patient while admitted to help decrease recidivism. This study contributed to the limited literature in the mental health field regarding inpatient group therapy and hopefully will stimulate additional research studies on this topic.

CHAPTER FOUR

The intention of this study was to examine the clinical characteristics of patients admitted to a private inpatient psychiatric hospital to determine possible predictors of group psychotherapy attendance and participation. A total of 150 patients' charts were randomly selected for the study. The data were archival and collected from patients' documented psychiatric reports, progress notes, and nursing reports organized in clinical charts housed onsite at the inpatient facility. The data were then coded for analysis, the data were entered into SPSS, and forward stepwise hierarchical regressions, Pearson's Correlation Coefficient, and chi-square analyses were conducted. The predictor variables of this study were demographic variables, clinical diagnostic variables, leader credentials, and topics presented in the psychotherapy group. The criterion variables were attendance and participation in the inpatient psychotherapy group. The results of the study are presented in this chapter.

Data Review

Data were collected over a period of six weeks onsite at the psychiatric hospital. The data collection process was lengthy. Each physical chart was thoroughly reviewed for specific clinical information documented by clinical and paraprofessional staff, including intake reports, discharge summaries, physician reports, medication administration documentation, and individual group psychotherapy progress notes.

The Health Information Services (HIS) department supervisor of the psychiatric hospital was integral in the data collection process. Prior to data collection, the HIS supervisor provided a spread sheet with the patients' names and identifying record numbers admitted the duration the study was examining. This spreadsheet was used to identify the patients randomly selected for the study by a random number generator. The HIS supervisor permitted unlimited access to the chart room where patients' charts were housed and she reserved physical space for the researcher where the data was collected. The HIS supervisor was accessible, extremely helpful, supportive, and readily able to answer questions that arose during the data collection process.

The chart room was very well organized and patients' charts were easily found, often with several charts per patient based on the number of admissions the previous year. Each patient's chart was organized consistently and information was complete. As expected, physicians', psychiatrists', nurses', and clinicians' progress notes and forms were filled out thoroughly with the information needed for the study. Psychiatric histories were detail oriented and clearly documented patients' psychosocial stressors and psychiatric issues relevant to the admission, as well as their histories of prior inpatient and outpatient psychiatric treatment interventions. Group psychotherapy progress notes were also thoroughly documented with group topics, patients' responses to the group process, and often mentioned alternative interventions attempted by group psychotherapy leaders for patients not in attendance during the offered group psychotherapy session.

It was noted in the chart review that the level of detail in the documentation, specifically group psychotherapy notes, increased with admission after January 1, 2010. The HIS supervisor stated this was due to internal changes to improve documentation and remain in compliance with managed care providers. This allowed a greater amount of information to be extracted from the group psychotherapy notes.

Findings

Frequency tables and descriptive statistics for the data collected were calculated to identify any discrepancies in the data. The means and standard deviations were within appropriate ranges and are presented in Tables 1, 2, and 3.

Table 1

| Characteristics | Number (Percent) |
|------------------|------------------|
| N | 150 |
| Age | |
| Range | 18-65 |
| Mean Age | 37.45 |
| Gender | |
| Male | 61 (40.7) |
| Female | 89 (59.3) |
| Ethnicity | |
| Caucasian | 103 (68.7) |
| African American | 38 (25.5) |
| Hispanic | 7 (4.7) |
| Asian | 2 (1.3) |
| SES | |
| Insured | 123 (82) |
| Uninsured | 27 (18) |
| Marital Status | |
| Single | 81 (54) |
| Married | 2 (34.7) |
| Divorced | 13 (8.7) |
| Widowed | 4 (2.7) |

Descriptive Demographic Characteristics

Table 2

| | Y | es | N | lo |
|-------------------------|-----|---------------|--------------|----------------|
| Characteristics | Num | ber/(Percent) | Num (Pero | iber/ cent) |
| Voluntary Admit Status | 83 | (55.3) | 67 | (44.7) |
| History of Prior Admits | 69 | (46) | 81 | (54) |
| Substance Abuse History | 68 | (45.3) | 81 | (54) |
| Medication Compliant | 141 | (94) | 9 | (6) |
| Suicidal Ideation | 110 | (73.3) | 40 | (26.7) |
| Homicidal Ideation | 11 | (7.3) | 139 | (92.7) |
| Psychosis | 74 | (49.3) | 76 | (50.7) |
| Diminished Capacity | 21 | (14) | 129 | (86) |
| Axis I Co-morbidity | 82 | (54.7) | 68 | (45.3) |
| Anti-Depressants | 103 | (68.7) | 47 | (31.3) |
| Anti-Anxiety | 45 | (30) | 105 | (70) |
| Mood Stabilizers | 60 | (40) | 90 | (60) |
| Anti-Psychotics | 99 | (66) | 51 | (34) |
| Sedatives | 3 | (2) | 147 | (98) |
| Psycho-stimulants | 4 | (2.7) | 146 | (97.3) |
| Hypnotics | 23 | (15.3) | 127 | (84.7) |

Descriptive Admission Clinical Characteristics I

Table 3

| Descriptive Admission Clinical |
|--------------------------------|
| Diagnosis Characteristics |

| Characteristics | Num | ber/(Percent) | Mean (SD) |
|-------------------------------------|-----|---------------|-----------------|
| Axis I | | | |
| Mood/Depressive Disorders | 78 | (52) | |
| Bipolar Disorders | 32 | (21.3) | |
| Schizophrenia/Psychotic Disorders | 40 | (26.7) | |
| Axis II | | | |
| No Diagnosis | 97 | (64.7) | |
| Mental Retardation (MR) Diagnosis | 4 | (2.7) | |
| Personality Disorder (PD) Diagnosis | 49 | (32.7) | |
| Axis III | | | |
| | | | 1.09 |
| Medical Stressors | | | (1.27) |
| Axis IV | | | |
| Low | 40 | (24.7) | |
| Moderate | 22 | (14.7) | |
| Severe | 88 | (58.7) | |
| | | | 30.94 |
| GAF Intake | | | (8.04) 53.51 |
| GAF Discharge | | | (9.82) |
| GAI Discharge | | | 6.45 |
| Length of Stay | | | (4.22) |
| | | | 0.29 |
| Re-Admits | | | (0.64) |
| Zero | 118 | (78.7) | |
| One | 23 | (15.3) | |
| Two | 6 | (4) | |
| Three | 3 | (2) | |
| Number of Psychotherapy Groups | | | 6.1 |
| Offered | | | (4.04) |
| Number of Psychotherapy Groups | | | 3.33 |
| Attended | | | (2.54) |

Research Question One

Research Question One (Q1) asked, "To what degree do clinical characteristics of admission status, diagnosis, medications, previous psychiatric inpatient admissions, and number of days admitted predict a patient's attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?"

The hypothesis for Q1 was that there was a significant relationship between clinical characteristics and a patient's attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. The hypothesis was tested using a regression equation using the percentage of group attendance as the dependent variable and demographic (age, gender, socio-economic status, ethnicity, marital status) and clinical characteristics (Five Axis diagnoses, voluntary admission status, prior psychiatric inpatient admissions, substance abuse history, medication compliant, suicidal ideation, homicidal ideation, psychosis, diminished capacity, Axis I co-morbidity, type of medication, Global Assessment Functioning (GAF) at intake and discharge, length of stay, re-admissions, number of inpatient psychotherapy groups offered, and number of psychotherapy groups attended) as independent predictor variables. The percentage of attendance was the outcome variable calculated by dividing the total number of attended group by the total number of offered groups.

Since the literature provided little guidance on which variables are most important to predict group psychotherapy attendance, a forward stepwise entry method was used for the regression. In the first step, medication compliance was entered into the equation, producing an R^2 0.07. Patients who were compliant with their medications were more likely to attend group therapy (see Table 4). In the second step, having a prescription of anti-psychotic medications was entered, producing an R^2 change of 0.033. Patients who were not on antipsychotic medications were more likely to attend group therapy. In the third step, having a comorbid Axis I diagnoses was entered, producing an R^2 change of 0.033. Patients who did not have comorbid Axis I diagnoses were more likely to attend group therapy. The overall model was significant, F(3) = 7.76, p < 0.001, and the R^2 for the model was 0.138. The results indicated three variables, medication compliance, prescription of anti-psychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses were predictors of inpatient group psychotherapy attendance. There were no other variables that significantly predicted group attendance.

Table 4

Regression Equations Predicting Percentage of Groups Attended by Clinical Characteristics

| | | Unstandardized Coefficients | | Standardized Coefficients | | |
|-------|-------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------|------------------------------|--------|------|
| Model | | В | Std. Error | Beta | t | Sig. |
| 1 | Not Medication Compliant | 361 | .107 | 269 | -3.384 | .001 |
| 2 | Not Medication Compliant | 331 | .106 | 246 | -3.120 | .002 |
| | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic Medicines | 124 | .053 | 184 | -2.333 | .021 |
| 3 | Not Medication Compliant | 342 | .105 | 255 | -3.275 | .001 |
| | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic Medicines | 140 | .053 | 207 | -2.649 | .009 |
| | Co-morbid Diagnoses | 118 | .050 | 183 | -2.350 | .020 |

Research Question Two

Research Question Two (Q2) asked, "To what degree do the following variables of admission status, diagnosis, medications, previous psychiatric inpatient admissions, and number of days admitted predict a patient's participation in inpatient psychotherapy groups?"

The hypothesis for Q2 was that there was a significant relationship between clinical characteristics and a patient's participation in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized.

The hypothesis was tested using a regression equation using the percentage of patient participation as the dependent variable and demographic (see Table 1) and clinical characteristics (see Tables 2 and 3) as independent predictor variables as referenced above for Q1. The percent of participation was the outcome variable. Average participation was calculated by a scoring non-attendance (0), disruptive behavior exhibited (1), not engaged (2) or actively engaged (3) for psychotherapy group offered, calculating a total, and dividing by the number of psychotherapy groups offered for each patient in the study.

As referenced in Q1, the literature provides little guidance on which variables are most important to predict group psychotherapy participation. A forward stepwise entry method was used to calculate the regression (Table 5).

Table 5

| | | Unstandardized Coefficients | | Standardized Coefficients | | |
|-----|---------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------|------------------------------|--------|------|
| Mod | lel | В | Std. Error | Beta | t | Sig. |
| 1 | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic Medications | 505 | .153 | 263 | -3.308 | .001 |
| 2 | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic | 452 | .150 | 236 | -3.008 | .003 |
| | Not Medication Compliant | 856 | .299 | 224 | -2.859 | .005 |
| 3 | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic | 493 | .150 | 257 | -3.288 | .001 |
| | Not Medication Compliant | 885 | .296 | 232 | -2.988 | .003 |
| | Comorbid Diagnoses | 299 | .142 | 164 | -2.108 | .037 |

Regression Equations Predicting Percentage of Participation in Psychotherapy Groups by Clinical Characteristics

In the first step, having a prescription of anti-psychotic medications was entered, producing an $R^2 0.069$. Patients who were not on antipsychotic medications were more likely to participate in attended group therapy. In the second step, medication compliance was entered into the equation, producing an R^2 change of 0.049. Patients who were compliant with their medications were more likely to participate in attended group therapy sessions. In the third step, having a comorbid Axis I diagnoses was entered, producing an R^2 change of 0.026. Patients who did not have comorbid Axis I diagnoses were more likely to participate in attended group therapy sessions. The overall model was significant, F(3) = 8.19, p = 0.037, and the R² for the model was 0.145. The results indicated three variables, medication compliance, prescription of anti-psychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses were predictors of inpatient group psychotherapy participation. There were no other variables that significantly predicted group participation.

Research Question Three

Research Question Three (Q3) asked, "To what degree do group psychotherapy facilitator credentials predict patients' participation or attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?"

The hypothesis for Q3 was that there was a significant relationship between the group psychotherapy facilitator credentials and patients' participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. The hypothesis was tested using a Pearson Chi-Squares test. Results of the analysis showed that inpatient group psychotherapy attendance was dependent on of the credentials of the facilitator, $\chi^2(3)=10.94$, p < .05 (see Table 6). This suggests that patients attended more groups than expected that were facilitated by clinicians with a aster in social work (MSW) degree and fewer groups than expected for facilitators with a master of art (MA) degree, Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC), or Licensed Clinical Social Worker (LCSW) credentials.

Table 6

| Leeden Cuedentiele | | Attenda | ance | | |
|--------------------|----------------|---------|-------|--------|--|
| Leader Credentials | | Yes | No | Total | |
| MSW | Count | 218 | 143 | 361 | |
| | Expected Count | 196.1 | 164.9 | 361.0 | |
| | % of Total | 23.9% | 15.7% | 39.5% | |
| | Std. Residual | 1.6 | -1.7 | | |
| MA | | | | | |
| | Count | 104 | 111 | 215 | |
| | Expected Count | 116.8 | 98.2 | 215.0 | |
| | % of Total | 11.4% | 12.2% | 23.5% | |
| LCSW | Std. Residual | -1.2 | 1.3 | | |
| | Count | 165 | 150 | 315 | |
| | Expected Count | 171.1 | 143.9 | 315.0 | |
| | % of Total | 18.1% | 16.4% | 34.5% | |
| LPC | Std. Residual | 5 | .5 | | |
| | Count | 9 | 13 | 22 | |
| | Expected Count | 12.0 | 10.0 | 22.0 | |
| | % of Total | 1.0% | 1.4% | 2.4% | |
| | Std. Residual | 9 | .9 | | |
| Total | Count | 496 | 417 | 913 | |
| | Expected Count | 496.0 | 417.0 | 913.0 | |
| | % of Total | 54.3% | 45.7% | 100.0% | |

| Chi-Square of | f Attendance Frequenc | y by Leader | Credentials |
|---------------|-----------------------|-------------|-------------|
| | | | |

Pearson Chi-Square results also indicated that there was a significant relationship between leader credentials and participation. Results of the analysis showed that

inpatient group psychotherapy participation was dependent on of the credentials of the facilitator, $\chi^2(9) = 23.71$, p < .01 (see Table 7). This suggests patients were more engaged than expected in psychotherapy groups facilitated by clinicians with a MSW and LCSW and less engaged in psychotherapy groups with MA and LPC facilitators.

Table 7

| Chi-Sq | Chi-Square of Participation Frequency by Leader Credentials | | | | | | | |
|--------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------|----------------|---------------------|--------|--|--|
| | | Participation | | | | | | |
| Leader Credentials | | Did Not Attend Offered Group | Disruptive | Not Engaged | Actively Engaged | Total | | |
| MSW | Count | 143 | 11 | 39 | 168 | 361 | | |
| | Expected Count | 165.3 | 16.6 | 34.8 | 144.3 | 361.0 | | |
| | % of Total | 15.7 | 1.2 | 4.3 | 18.4 | 39.5 | | |
| | Std. Residual | -1.7 | -1.4 | .7 | 2.0 | | | |
| MA | Count | 112 | 15 | 24 | 64 | 215 | | |
| | Expected Count | 98.4 | 9.9 | 20.7 | 86.0 | 215.0 | | |
| | % of Total | 12.3 | 1.6 | 2.6 | 7.0 | 23.5 | | |
| | Std. Residual | 1.4 | 1.6 | .7 | -2.4 | | | |
| LCSW | / Count | 150 | 15 | 23 | 127 | 315 | | |
| | Expected Count | 144.2 | 14.5 | 30.4 | 125.9 | 315.0 | | |
| | % of Total | 16.4 | 1.6 | 2.5 | 13.9 | 34.5 | | |
| | Std. Residual | .5 | .1 | -1.3 | .1 | | | |
| LPC | Count | 13 | 1 | 2 | 6 | 22 | | |
| | Expected Count | 10.1 | 1.0 | 2.1 | 8.8 | 22.0 | | |
| | % of Total | 1.4 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 0.7 | 2.4 | | |
| | Std. Residual | 0.9 | .0 | -0.1 | -0.9 | | | |
| Total | Count | 418 | 42 | 88 | 365 | 913 | | |
| | Expected Count | 418.0 | 42.0 | 88.0 | 365.0 | 913.0 | | |
| | % of Total | 45.8 | 4.6 | 9.6 | 40.0 | 100.0% | | |

Research Question Four

Research Question Four (Q4) asked, "To what degree do the topics presented in the group psychotherapy session predict a patient's participation or attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?"

The hypothesis for Q4 was that there was a significant relationship between the topics presented in the group psychotherapy session and a patient's participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. The hypothesis was tested using a Pearson Chi-Squares test. The results indicated that there was no significant relationship between topics presented and patients' attendance in psychotherapy groups (see Table 8), χ^2 (7) = 11.91, p < .10 or patients' participation in psychotherapy groups (see Table 9), χ^2 (21) = 24.64, p < .26.

Table 8

Chi-Square of Attendance Frequency by Group Psychotherapy Topic

Attendance Topic Total Yes No 95 114 209 General Count Process **Expected Count** 113.5 95.5 209.0 10.4 12.5 22.9 % of Total Std. Residual 1.9 -1.7 Count 117 83 200 Self-Awareness 108.7 91.3 200.0 **Expected Count** 9.1 % of Total 12.8 21.9 Std. Residual .8 -.9 139 249 Coping 110 Count Expected Count 135.3 113.7 249.0

| | % of Total | 15.2 | 12.0 | 27.3 |
|---------------|----------------|-------|-------|-------|
| | Std. Residual | .3 | 3 | |
| Grief and | Count | 5 | 4 | 9 |
| Loss | Expected Count | 4.9 | 4.1 | 9.0 |
| | % of Total | .5% | .4% | 1.0% |
| | Std. Residual | .1 | 1 | |
| Anger | Count | 15 | 9 | 24 |
| Management | Expected Count | 13.0 | 11.0 | 24.0 |
| | % of Total | 1.6 | 1.0 | 2.6 |
| | Std. Residual | .5 | 6 | |
| Relaxation | Count | 26 | 13 | 39 |
| Exercises | Expected Count | 21.2 | 17.8 | 39.0 |
| | % of Total | 2.8 | 1.4 | 4.3 |
| | Std. Residual | 1.0 | -1.1 | |
| Healthy | Count | 61 | 47 | 108 |
| Relationships | Expected Count | 58.7 | 49.3 | 108.0 |
| | % of Total | 6.7 | 5.1 | 11.8 |
| | Std. Residual | .3 | 3 | |
| Problem | Count | 38 | 37 | 75 |
| Solving | Expected Count | 40.7 | 34.3 | 75.0 |
| | % of Total | 4.2 | 4.1 | 8.2 |
| | Std. Residual | 4 | .5 | |
| Total | Count | 496 | 417 | 913 |
| | Expected Count | 496.0 | 417.0 | 913.0 |
| | % of Total | 54.3 | 45.7 | 100.0 |

| | | | Participa | tion | | |
|------------|----------------|---------------------------------------|------------|----------------|---------------------|-------|
| Topics | _ | Did Not Attend Offered Group | Disruptive | Not Engaged | Actively Engaged | Total |
| General | Count | 114 | 8 | 21 | 66 | 209 |
| Process | Expected Count | 95.7 | 9.6 | 20.1 | 83.6 | 209.0 |
| | % of Total | 12.5 | .9 | 2.3 | 7.2 | 22.9 |
| | Std. Residual | 1.9 | 5 | .2 | -1.9 | |
| Self- | Count | 83 | 7 | 18 | 92 | 200 |
| Awareness | Expected Count | 91.6 | 9.2 | 19.3 | 80.0 | 200.0 |
| | % of Total | 9.1 | .8 | 2.0 | 10.1 | 21.9 |
| | Std. Residual | 9 | 7 | 3 | 1.3 | |
| Coping | Count | 110 | 14 | 23 | 102 | 249 |
| | Expected Count | 114.0 | 11.5 | 24.0 | 99.5 | 249.0 |
| | % of Total | 12.0 | 1.5 | 2.5 | 11.2 | 27.3 |
| | Std. Residual | 4 | .8 | 2 | .2 | |
| Grief and | Count | 4 | 0 | 0 | 5 | 9 |
| Loss | Expected Count | 4.1 | .4 | .9 | 3.6 | 9.0 |
| | % of Total | .4 | .0 | .0 | .5 | 1.0 |
| | Std. Residual | 1 | 6 | 9 | .7 | |
| Anger | Count | 10 | 2 | 4 | 8 | 24 |
| Management | Expected Count | 11.0 | 1.1 | 2.3 | 9.6 | 24.0 |
| | % of Total | 1.1 | .2 | .4 | .9 | 2.6 |
| | Std. Residual | 3 | .9 | 1.1 | 5 | |
| Relaxation | Count | 13 | 2 | 5 | 19 | 39 |
| Exercise | Expected Count | 17.9 | 1.8 | 3.8 | 15.6 | 39.0 |

Table 9

Chi-Square of Participation Frequency by Group Psychotherapy Topic

| | % of Total | 1.4 | .2 | .5 | 2.1 | 4.3 |
|---------------|----------------|-------|------|------|-------|-------|
| | Std. Residual | -1.1 | .2 | .6 | .9 | |
| Healthy | Count | 47 | 5 | 15 | 41 | 108 |
| Relationships | Expected Count | 49.4 | 5.0 | 10.4 | 43.2 | 108.0 |
| | % of Total | 5.1 | .5 | 1.6 | 4.5 | 11.8 |
| | Std. Residual | 3 | .0 | 1.4 | 3 | |
| Problem | Count | 37 | 4 | 2 | 32 | 75 |
| Solving | Expected Count | 34.3 | 3.5 | 7.2 | 30.0 | 75.0 |
| | % of Total | 4.1 | .4 | .2 | 3.5 | 8.2 |
| | Std. Residual | .5 | .3 | -1.9 | .4 | |
| Total | Count | 418 | 42 | 88 | 365 | 913 |
| | Expected Count | 418.0 | 42.0 | 88.0 | 365.0 | 913.0 |
| | % of Total | 45.8 | 4.6 | 9.6 | 40.0 | 100.0 |

CHAPTER FIVE

DISCUSSION

The analysis and results of this study are presented in Chapter Five. The statistical outcomes, limitations, implications for counselors, counselor educators, and future research are discussed. The data analyses suggest that further research on inpatient group psychotherapy attendance and participation is needed.

The purpose of this study was to examine inpatient psychotherapy groups and predictive factors contributing to patients' attendance and participation based on clinical characteristics, facilitator credentials, and topics presented.

Research indicates that patients' attendance and participation in group psychotherapy while admitted to inpatient psychiatric facilities decreases recidivism and increases coping skills upon reintegration into the community (Kösters et al., 2006; Page & Hooke, 2009). This study focused on examining historical data from the charts of 150 patients' charts admitted to an inpatient psychiatric facility from June 2009 to May 2010. The goal was to predict relationships between clinical characteristics and inpatient psychotherapy group attendance and participation. The data examined included demographic information (gender, race, age, ethnicity, and social and economic status); admission status (voluntary versus involuntary); Five Axis diagnoses; compliance of prescribed types of medications (antidepressants, antipsychotics, etc.); number of days admitted; number of admissions during the time period of the study; attendance and participation as documented on group therapy progress notes; topics presented in the group therapy sessions; and the credentials of the mental health providers leading the group therapy sessions.

Findings

Research Question One

The first research question examined in this study was as follows: To what degree do the clinical characteristics of admission status, diagnosis, medications, previous psychiatric inpatient admissions, and number of days admitted predict a patient's attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?

As hypothesized, there was a significant relationship between some clinical characteristics and patients' attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. The results of the stepwise regression equations indicated that three variables (medication compliance, prescription of anti-psychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses) were predictors of inpatient group psychotherapy attendance. Patients who were not in compliance with their medications, who were on anti-psychotic medications, and who had comorbid diagnoses were less likely to attend inpatient group psychotherapy sessions. Each of the variables will be discussed next.

Medication management for stabilization is the primary intervention given to patients when admitted to the psychiatric hospital. Patients are admitted to an inpatient psychiatric facility for short term acute care when they are deemed a danger to self or others (suicidal or homicidal) or are unable to care for themselves due to psychosis or diminished capacity. The results of this study indicated patients who were compliant with psychotropic medications prescribed by psychiatrists while admitted to the hospital were more likely to attend psychotherapy groups offered. In addition, patients who were not prescribed antipsychotic medications and were not diagnosed with more than one Axis I diagnosis were also more likely to attend psychotherapy groups. The necessity and effectiveness of antipsychotic medications for the treatment and control of symptoms in patients diagnosed with psychotic disorders (e.g., Schizophrenia and Bipolar disorder) is well documented in the literature (Liu-Seifert et al., 2007; Oehl et al., 2000). It is estimated that 50% of patients diagnosed with Schizophrenia are non-compliant with therapeutic interventions to include compliance with medications. The lack of compliance with medications usually leads to poor treatment outcomes and high rates of readmissions to psychiatric hospitals for stabilization (Perkins, 2002; Weiden & Olfson, 1995). It has been suggested patients diagnosed with Schizophrenia show resistance to taking antipsychotic medications due to stigma, adverse drug reactions, memory problems, and lack of social support (Hudson et al., 2004).

On the other hand, while the three factors (medication non-compliance, antipsychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses) predicted non-attendance, admission status, prior psychiatric inpatient admissions, and length of admission were not associated in predicting a patient's attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups. Additional characteristics of patients that were not associated with their attendance in psychotherapy groups while hospitalized: age, marital status, ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic status, suicidal ideation, homicidal ideation, psychosis, diminished capacity, number of readmits, Five Axis diagnoses, Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) intake, GAF discharge, substance abuse history, anti-depressant medications, anti-anxiety medications, mood stabilizer medications, sedative medications, psycho-stimulant medications, and hypnotic medications.

In the case of admission status, patients are admitted to a psychiatric hospital either voluntary or involuntary. That fact is important because it may help explain a patients' motivation to attend psychotherapy groups after admission based on his or her admission status. In the sample of patients for this study, 55.5% were admitted voluntarily and 44.5% were admitted involuntarily. Patients may be admitted involuntarily due to diminished capacity or inability to care for themselves. Patients may also be admitted involuntarily due to demonstrating imminent danger to themselves (suicide attempt or stated plan with intent) or others (homicidal attempt or intent) if they refuse voluntary inpatient treatment (Compton, & Craw, 2006).

However, patients' motivation to enter the hospital is not necessarily indicative of their compliance with treatment once admitted. Patients often have multiple contributing factors that surround their decision to voluntarily seek inpatient psychiatric care. These factors may include financial obligations, family responsibilities, and possible negative employment ramifications. Although the patient may have been admitted involuntarily, his or her motivation to decrease symptomology and resume previous responsibilities incites treatment compliance to include attendance of offered psychotherapy groups. Therefore, admission status was not shown to be a predictor of group psychotherapy attendance.

Similarly, a history of prior inpatient admissions does not necessarily predict a patient's lack of motivation to participate in treatment interventions, including psychotherapy group, while admitted to a psychiatric hospital. There are three possible reasons for this, namely, community treatment non-compliance, denial of the severity of mental illness, and lack of family support. This is perhaps due to the fact the patients often do not comply with community treatment options (medication management, counseling, case management, etc.) due to other reason, such as finances, transportation,

concern about stigma, denial of the severity of his or her mental illness, and a lack of family or social supports. Once a patient is admitted to an inpatient facility, he or she may be compliant with attending psychotherapy groups due to motivation to increase social supports (Vaughn et al., 1995) and learn coping skills to avoid future admissions (Blake et al., 1990; Dacey, 1989).

A final factor to consider that did not predict attendance is a patients' length of stay at the psychiatric hospital. Patients admitted to a psychiatric hospital have an average length of stay between 7 to 12 days, or until they can be safely treated at a lower level of care (e.g., outpatient treatment, partial inpatient treatment, or case management) and safely maintain in the community (Compton, Craw, & Rudisch, 2006). In this study, the average length of stay for patients was 6.45 days, the average number of groups offered was 6.1, and the average number of groups attended was 3.33. On average, patients attended half of the groups offered while admitted. A particular factor in the beginning and ending of their stay not being a predictor may be important in attendance. The study revealed that many patients did not attend psychotherapy groups offered the first and last day of their admission, which may account for length of stay not being a predictor of group attendance.

In summary, three factors (medication non-compliance, anti-psychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses) predicted non-attendance. However, admission status, prior psychiatric inpatient admissions, and length of admission were not associated in predicting a patient's attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups. Other patient characteristics found not to be associated with attendance in psychotherapy groups included: age, marital status, ethnicity, gender, socio-economic status, suicidal ideation, homicidal ideation, psychosis, diminished capacity, number of readmits, Five Axis diagnoses, Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) intake, GAF discharge, substance abuse history, anti-depressant medications, anti-anxiety medications, mood stabilizer medications, sedative medications, psycho-stimulant medications, and hypnotic medications.

Research Question Two

The second research question examined in this study was as follows: To what degree do the following variables of admission status, diagnosis, medications, previous psychiatric inpatient admissions, and number of days admitted predict a patient's participation in inpatient psychotherapy groups?"

As hypothesized, there was a significant relationship between clinical characteristics and patients' participation in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. The results after conducting stepwise regression equations indicated that three variables (medication compliance, prescription of anti-psychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses) were predictors of inpatient group psychotherapy participation. Patients who were compliant with psychotropic medications prescribed by psychiatrists while admitted to the hospital were more likely to participate in psychotherapy groups offered. In addition, patients who were not diagnosed with more than one Axis I diagnosis and were not prescribed antipsychotic medication and were more likely to participate in psychotherapy groups offered.

It could be speculated that patients do not participate in psychotherapy groups offered while admitted to a psychiatric hospital for the same reasons they do not attend. The reason may be that they are operating at a lower level of functioning than the average patient. Patients admitted due to medication non-compliance, requiring antipsychotic medications for stabilization and clear thought processes, and diagnosed with multiple Axis I diagnoses are severely impaired. This level of impairment would prevent them from engaging in thought provoking and insightful group psychotherapy topics prior to increasing their level of functioning.

The following characteristics of patients were not associated with their attendance in psychotherapy groups while hospitalized: age, marital status, ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic status, suicidal ideation, homicidal ideation, psychosis, diminished capacity, length of admission, number of readmits, history of prior admissions, Five Axis diagnoses, Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) intake, GAF discharge, substance abuse history, anti-depressant medications, anti-anxiety medications, mood stabilizer medications, sedative medications, psycho-stimulant medications, and hypnotic medications.

Predictors of group psychotherapy participation were consistent with that of group psychotherapy attendance, showing the relationship between group attendance and participation. In this study, 45.8% did not attend groups offered. Of the remaining patients who chose to attend group, 74% actively participated. If patients chose to attend group sessions, then they also chose to participate. The three factors not predictive of group psychotherapy attendance, were also the same three factors not predictive of group psychotherapy participation.

Lazell (1921) advocated for the use of group therapy in the treatment of patients diagnosed with schizophrenia for the benefits of improving social functioning, reducing anxiety, increasing self-esteem, and decreasing recidivism (Kibel, 1992). However, if

patients are not attending and participating in psychotherapy groups offered, then perhaps other interventions should be considered to provide the same or similar benefits.

Research Question Three

The third research question examined in this study was as follows: To what degree do group psychotherapy facilitator credentials predict patients' participation or attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?

As hypothesized there was a significant relationship between the group psychotherapy facilitator credentials and patients' participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. The results after conducting a Pearson Chi-Square test showed that inpatient group psychotherapy attendance was associated with the credentials of the facilitator. Patients attended more groups than expected that were facilitated by clinicians with a Master in Social Work (MSW) and attended less groups than expected for facilitators with Master of Arts (MA), Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC), and Licensed Clinical Social Worker (LCSW).

A clinician with an MSW has a master's degree in social work, but is not yet licensed. Perhaps beginning clinicians such as MSWs have more contact with patients and, as a result, patients are more likely to attend groups they convene. It is possible that contemporary MSW programs are effectively preparing graduates to provide inpatient services, and they are better equipped to encourage patients to attend groups they facilitate.

A Pearson Chi-Square test also indicated that there was a significant relationship between leader credentials and participation. Patients were more engaged than expected in psychotherapy groups facilitated by clinicians with a MSW and LCSW and less engaged than expected in psychotherapy groups with MA and LPC facilitators.

MSWs and LCSWs are social workers, while MAs and LPCs are counselors. It is possible that social work programs are preparing graduates to engage psychiatric patients in group process more effectively than is being done in counselor preparation programs. Since counselors become group facilitators in psychiatric inpatient facilities, it is important that they be prepared to facilitate such groups in an effective manner, which would include finding ways to motivate patients to participate.

Research Question Four

The final research question examined in this study was as follows: To what degree do the topics presented in the group psychotherapy session predict a patient's participation or attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups?

The hypothesis for Q4 was that there was a significant relationship between the topics presented in the group psychotherapy session and a patient's participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. The results of the study did not offer support for this hypothesis. The results indicated that there was no significant relationship between topics presented and patients' attendance or participation in psychotherapy groups.

The fact that there was no significant relationship between the topic presented in group psychotherapy and patients' attendance and participation may be understandable. Patients were not informed in advance of the topics that would be presented in psychotherapy groups. The topic was presented after the group members had arrived and typically started as a check-in with patients (as documented in many of the group psychotherapy notes). Perhaps in a different inpatient facility, group topics might be announced to patients in advance in an effort to encourage attendance.

It appears that when topics of groups are not announced, the topic of the group will not have an effect on participation. On the other hand, it would seem that patients would participate more or less depending on the topic of groups. However, in this study, that was not found to be the case. The topic of the groups had no effect on patients' participation once they were attending a group. From the results of this study, it appears that other factors, such as clinical conditions of patients and credentials of clinicians have an impact on patient participation, while the topic of the group does not.

Limitations of the Research Study

One limitation of this study was the ability to ensure external validity. External validity is defined by how generalizable the results of the research study can be applied to the population (Marczyk et al., 2005). Creswell (2009) stated that external validity threats "arise when experimenters draw incorrect inferences from the sample data to other persons, other settings, and past or future situations" (p. 162). This type of validity threat may be a problem due to characteristics of the participants, timing of the experiment, and uniqueness of setting. The interaction of the setting and treatment may be an issue in this study. Characteristics of the participants may prevent the results from being generalized to individuals in other settings.

The data for this study was collected in one private psychiatric hospital setting. Generalizing the results to other private or public hospitals should be done with caution.

Certain limitations were inherent to this study due to the use of historical data. In the data collection process the existing data was used. I had no control over the setting or the instrumentation. The sample was taken from a specific population from one private inpatient psychiatric hospital. The results may be able to be generalized, however only to private psychiatric hospitals with similar patients. Therefore, generalizability of the results of this study may be limited.

Internal validity threats existed because the data were archival. Extraneous factors could not be controlled for by the researcher. Progress notes, intake and discharge summaries, and nursing assessments were conducted by various clinicians, physicians, and nurses and can be subjective in nature. I did not have control over the documentation process or consistency used when reporting on patients' behaviors and dynamic clinical characteristics.

Implications for Practice

Mental health professionals may find the results of this study to have beneficial implications. The three predictors of inpatient psychotherapy group attendance and participation were compliance with medications, antipsychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnosis. Individuals with the clinical characteristics of being non-complaint with medications, having been prescribed antipsychotic medications, and having comorbid Axis I diagnoses are severely mentally ill upon admission. Based on the results of this study, there is a strong likelihood that these patients will not attend or participate in the group psychotherapy sessions offered and therefore this intervention will be of no benefit. Group psychotherapy does not work for these patients and alternative therapeutic interventions may need to be explored.

This study offers mental health professionals insight into patients' motivation to attend psychotherapy groups and identifies those who may not attend or benefit from the intervention. Mental health professionals could create and offer these patients alternative interventions and strive to make inpatient treatment interventions more patient-centered versus a traditional group psychotherapy approach. Optimal interventions might include a Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) theoretical orientation behavior training approach to focus on increasing education (e.g., medication management and support), social skills, and coping skills. Problem solving approaches are empirically validated and are able to make a strong impact in a short amount of time (Sautter, Heaney, & O'Neill 1991) and should be considered as an approach for lower functioning patients. Interventions can be created and offered in group and individual formats by mental health professionals. Mental health professionals might consider creating highly structured (Yalom 1983) psycho-educational programs for patients who do not attend psychotherapy groups. Structured CBT groups or individual interventions could also be facilitated by unlicensed master's level paraprofessionals (MA or MSW) with supervision from mental health professionals, providing a therapeutic and cost effective option.

Group sessions of any kind might not be sufficient for patients who are severely impaired. Perhaps those in charge of the care of patients who are hospitalized need to seek alternatives to group sessions for severely mentally ill patients. Alternative treatments counselors might consider include individual psychotherapy, crafts, exercise, or other activities that would stimulate patients.

Alternative treatment options may be essential in the improvement of patients who are not attending inpatient psychotherapy groups. Data collected for the study indicated in some of the documentation from group psychotherapy progress notes that some alternative treatment options were actually offered. It was sometimes noted that patients were offered handouts from the psychotherapy group missed or they were offered the option of an individual session. However, in the charts reviewed for this study, there were very few documented instances where a patient accepted the offer for an individual session with the facilitator.

Implications for Future Research

Researchers have confirmed to the overall effectiveness of groups (Kösters et al., 2006; Page & Hooke, 2009). However, no specific evidence has been provided to identify specific group interventions that are effective with different types of patients, ranging from the mildly impaired to the severely chronically mentally ill (Rose & Tollman, 1994).

Upon examination of the literature, there is a large gap in the scholarly research focused on characteristics of patients who attend and engage in inpatient group therapy. Due to decreased availability of beds and shortened length of stay in psychiatric inpatient facilities, it is important to maximize the therapeutic benefit to the patient while admitted to help decrease recidivism. This study contributed to the limited literature in the mental health field regarding inpatient group therapy and hopefully will stimulate additional research studies on this topic.

Future quantitative and qualitative studies are needed to examine alternative interventions to group psychotherapy for patients who refuse or who are too psychologically impaired to attend and participate. Perhaps another study of interest would be to interview patients who attend inpatient psychotherapy groups although he or she may exhibit one or all of the predictors of non-attendance.

Conclusion

Inpatient psychiatric hospitals have evolved from long-term psychiatric care to short-term acute psychiatric crisis interventions (Baker & Geise, 1992; Springer & Silk, 1996; Vaughn et al., 1995). Patients are admitted to psychiatric hospitals and typically stay an average length of between 7 to 12 days, or until they can be safely treated at a lower level of care (e.g., outpatient treatment or partial inpatient treatment) and safely maintain in the community (Compton, Craw, & Rudisch, 2006). While a patient is admitted to a psychiatric facility, the primary focus is placed on medication management (Yalom, 1983). Individual psychotherapy is typically not offered for each patient (Santa Ana et al., 2007) due to the number of patients, so group psychotherapy is utilized for the therapeutic benefits and the resource effectiveness.

The results of this study suggest that not all patients are benefitting from group psychotherapy while admitted to an inpatient hospital. This study determined that three clinical characteristics (medication compliance, antipsychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses) predict a patients' attendance and participation in psychotherapy groups. The ability to identify patients who are more likely not to attend group enables mental health professionals to create additional interventions to achieve similar results and decrease recidivism. Further studies are needed to examine alternative interventions for patients who refuse or are too psychologically impaired to attend and participate in inpatient group psychotherapy sessions traditionally offered.

CHAPTER SIX

MANUSCRIPT

INPATIENT PSYCHOTHERAPY GROUPS:

PREDICTING ATTENDANCE AND PARTICIPATION

Sharon E. Silverberg

Theodore P. Remley, Jr.

Renee Seay

Old Dominion University

To be submitted to the

International Journal of Group Psychotherapy

ABSTRACT

Group psychotherapy is the primary talk therapy offered to patients admitted to an inpatient psychiatric hospital. Research has shown group psychotherapy attendance and participation increases patients' likelihood of success post discharge and decreases recidivism. Not all patients admitted to psychiatric hospitals choose to attend group psychotherapy sessions offered and therefore do not benefit. This article offers an analysis of the predictors of inpatient group psychotherapy attendance and participation, provides future research directions, and considers implications for mental health professionals serving this population.

Key Words: Inpatient Treatment, Group Psychotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Group psychotherapy began after World War I in the 1920's in North America. It was at this time that Edward L. Lazell began working with war veterans diagnosed with schizophrenia at St. Elizabeth's Hospital in Washington, D.C. Lazell (1921) stated that group psychotherapy assisted patients with increased socialization and decreased fears regarding the therapist. In 1931, L. Cody Marsh worked with groups of patients hospitalized in Massachusetts utilizing group exercises and activities to help patients with their rehabilitation (Kibel, 1992). In 1983, Irvin Yalom developed a method of inpatient group therapy at Stanford University. Yalom's focus on inpatient psychotherapy was based around a dynamic approach to a patient's interpersonal learning with special attention to the "here and now".

Group psychotherapy has been shown to be an effective treatment invention for patients suffering from psychiatric illness including Mood Disorders (Burlingame & Barlow, 1996; Kuhns, 1997; Murphy, 1997; McNamee et al., 1995; Scott & Stradling, 1990), Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (Van Noppen et al., 1998), Social Phobias (Fanget, 2000; Heimberg et al., 1998; Hope et al.; 1995; Scholing & Emmelkamp, 1993), and Eating Disorders (Davis et al., 1990; Davis et al., 1997; Hartmann et al., 1992; Mitchell et al., 1993; Peterson et al., 1998).

Group psychotherapy integrates both the interpersonal and interactional climate established and maintained by the group itself (Lambert, 2004). It also creates a sense of value for the patient on the group as the mode for which change will occur and the group member's interactions the primary delivery of the change in members who participate (Furhiman & Burlingame, 1990). After decades of research, group psychotherapy treatment has shown to be effective even as a sole intervention for some patients suffering from psychiatric illness (Fuhriman & Burlingame, 1994).

Over the last several decades, inpatient psychiatric hospitals have evolved from long term psychiatric care to short term acute psychiatric treatment (Baker & Geise, 1992; Springer & Silk, 1996; Vaughn et al., 1995). Currently in the United States, individuals admitted to a psychiatric hospital typically stay an average length of between 7 to 12 days, or until they can be safely treated at a lower level of care (e.g., outpatient treatment or partial inpatient treatment) and safely maintain in the community (Compton, Craw, & Rudisch, 2006). While a patient is admitted to a psychiatric facility, the primary focus is placed on medication management (Yalom, 1983). Since psychopharmacology is the primary therapeutic focus for psychiatric patients, not psychotherapy, and in combination with the large number of patients admitted to a psychiatric hospital at any given time, individual psychotherapy is typically not offered for each patient (Santa Ana et al., 2007).

Group psychotherapy is the primary talk therapy offered to patients while admitted to a psychiatric inpatient facility (Farley, 1998; Strauss & Burgmeier-Lohse, 1994; Tschuschke, 2004; Weiss, 2010; Yalom, 1983). Inpatient group psychotherapy has been shown to be effective and makes efficient use of the patients' time and the hospital and staff's resources (Yalom, 1983; Kösters et al., 2006). Research has proven that it is beneficial for patient outcomes post discharge if they participate in group psychotherapy while admitted to a psychiatric hospital (Page & Hooke, 2009).

Not all patients chose to attend group psychotherapy sessions offered while admitted to the psychiatric facility and therefore do not benefit. This lack of participation in group psychotherapy deprives the patient the opportunity to share thoughts and feelings related to the stressors and issues leading to the psychiatric inpatient admission (Vaughn et al., 1995). It also denies them of the chance to receive additional support in learning coping skills to better deal with stressors in the future, thereby possibly preventing additional psychiatric inpatient hospitalizations (Blake et al., 1990; Dacey, 1989).

Group psychotherapy plays a large role in patients' recovery while admitted to a psychiatric hospital and his or her success upon discharge (Page & Hooke, 2009). Therefore, it is important to understand what clinical factors contribute to patients' participation and attendance of inpatient group psychotherapy. The ability to predict patients' attendance and participation in inpatient group psychotherapy will help mental health professionals identify those who may need additional support and encouragement to attend. It has been suggested that behavioral strategies, such as verbal instructions and feedback, have been studied and shown to significantly increase patient's attendance in inpatient group therapy (Blake, Owens, & Keene, 1990). This assistance may increase the likelihood of the patients attending psychotherapy groups while admitted to the hospital, even as early as the first day. Moreover, it may also increase the likelihood of success upon discharge into the community to a lower level of care and decrease the rate in inpatient psychiatric admission recidivism (Page & Hooke, 2009).

The purpose of this study was to examine predictive factors contributing to a patient's attendance and participation of inpatient psychotherapy groups by utilizing historical data. Data analyzed included demographic information (gender, race, age, ethnicity, and SES); admission status (voluntary versus involuntary); DSM-IV TR

51

diagnosis (Axis I, II, III, IV, and IV); compliance of current prescribed types of medications (antidepressants, antipsychotics, etc.); number of days admitted, number of admissions during the time period of the study (one year); attendance and participation as documented by hospital staff on group therapy progress notes; topics presented in the group therapy sessions; and the credentials of the mental health providers leading the group therapy sessions.

This study identified characteristics in patients that lead to non-attendance or non participation in group therapy while admitted to the psychiatric facility. The results of this study may increase the ability of mental health professionals to engage patients who may have characteristics predictive of not attending or participating in group therapy. Increasing attendance and participation in inpatient group therapy sessions may help to provide a positive outcome for a patient's future success in the community.

METHOD

Participants in this study were patients randomly selected from a data base of approximately 2,000 patients, ranging in age from 18-65, admitted to a private psychiatric hospital located in the mid-Atlantic section of the United States from June 2009 to May 2010. Of the 2,000 patients, 150 were selected using a random number generator. According to Cohen (1992), assuming a moderate effect size at the p=.80 level, a minimum sample of 107 patients were needed to have adequate power for hypotheses that are tested at the .05 alpha level. In order to strengthen the study, 150 patients were utilized in the data collection process.

The sample was comprised of 61 (40.7%) males and 89 (59.3%) females. Patients represented the following ethnicities: 103 (68.7%) Caucasian, 38 (25.5%) African

American, 7 (4.7%) Hispanic, and 2 (1.3%) Asian. Funding for inpatient treatment was 123 (82%) insured patients and uninsured 27 (18%) (see Table 1).

Data were collected over a period of six weeks onsite at the psychiatric hospital. Each physical chart was thoroughly reviewed for specific clinical information documented by clinical and paraprofessional staff, including intake reports, discharge summaries, physician reports, medication administration documentation, and individual group psychotherapy progress notes.

The study was a correlational design used to predict group attendance and participation from several individual difference variables. Data was analyzed by using SPSS (version 17) software. Frequency distributions were utilized to report data such as gender, age, race/ethnicity, diagnosis, admission status, prescriptions taken during admission, and number of group therapy sessions offered, attendance, and quality of attendance. Correlations were completed to examine the significant relationships between demographic variables and the predictor variables. Regressions were used to test the hypothesis. Demographic variables found to be significantly related to any predicted or outcome variable were included in the regression.

RESULTS

As hypothesized, there was a significant relationship between some clinical characteristics and patients' participation in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized (see table 2). The results of the stepwise regression equations indicated three variables (medication compliance, prescription of anti-psychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses) were predictors of inpatient group psychotherapy attendance. Patients who were not in compliance with their medications,

who were on anti-psychotic medications, and who had comorbid diagnoses were less likely to attend inpatient group psychotherapy sessions. The patient characteristics of admission status, previous psychiatric inpatient admissions, and number of days admitted did not predict a patient's attendance in inpatient psychotherapy groups.

Patients are admitted to an inpatient psychiatric facility for short term acute care when they are deemed a danger to self or others (suicidal or homicidal) or are unable to care for themselves due to psychosis or diminished capacity. Medication management for stabilization is the primary intervention given to patients when admitted to the psychiatric hospital. The results of this study indicated patients who were compliant with psychotropic medications prescribed by psychiatrists while admitted to the hospital were more likely to attend psychotherapy groups offered. In addition, patients who were not prescribed antipsychotic medications and were not diagnosed with more than one Axis I diagnosis were also more likely to attend psychotherapy groups.

There was also a significant relationship between clinical characteristics and patients' participation in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized (see table 3). The results after conducting stepwise regression equations indicated three variables, medication compliance, prescription of anti-psychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses were predictors of inpatient group psychotherapy participation. Patients who were compliant with psychotropic medications prescribed by psychiatrists while admitted to the hospital were more likely to participate in psychotherapy groups offered. In addition, patients who were not diagnosed with more than one Axis I diagnosis and were not prescribed antipsychotic medication and were more likely to participate in psychotherapy groups offered. It could be speculated that patients do not participate in psychotherapy groups offered while admitted to a psychiatric hospital for the same reasons they do not attend. The reason may be that they are operating at a lower level of functioning than the average patient. Patients admitted due to medication non-compliance, requiring antipsychotic medications for stabilization and clear thought processes, and diagnosed with multiple Axis I diagnoses are severely impaired. This level of impairment would prevent them from engaging in thought provoking and insightful group psychotherapy topics prior to increasing their level of functioning.

The following characteristics of patients were not associated with their attendance in psychotherapy groups while hospitalized: age, marital status, ethnicity, gender, socioeconomic status, suicidal ideation, homicidal ideation, psychosis, diminished capacity, length of admission, number of readmits, history of prior admissions, Five Axis diagnoses, Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) intake, GAF discharge, substance abuse history, anti-depressant medications, anti-anxiety medications, mood stabilizer medications, sedative medications, psycho-stimulant medications, and hypnotic medications.

Predictors of group psychotherapy participation were consistent with that of group psychotherapy attendance, showing the relationship between group attendance and participation. In this study, 45.8% did not attend groups offered. Of the remaining patients who chose to attend group, 74% actively participated. If a patient chose to attend group then they also chose to participate. The factors not predictive of group psychotherapy attendance are, therefore, were also not predictive of group psychotherapy participation.

Analysis also indicated a significant relationship between the group psychotherapy facilitator credentials and patients' participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. A Pearson Chi-Squares test showed that inpatient group psychotherapy attendance was associated with the credentials of the facilitator. Patients attended more groups than expected that were facilitated by clinicians with a Master in Social Work (MSW) and attended less groups than expected for facilitators with Master of Arts (MA), Licensed Professional Counselor (LPC), and Licensed Clinical Social Worker (LCSW).

A clinician with an MSW has a master's degree in social work, but is not yet licensed. Perhaps beginning clinicians such as MSWs have more contact with patients and, as a result, patients are more likely to attend groups they convene. It is possible that contemporary MSW programs are effectively preparing graduates to provide inpatient services, and they are better equipped to encourage patients to attend groups they facilitate.

A Pearson Chi-Square test also indicated that there was a significant relationship between leader credentials and participation. Patients were more engaged than expected in psychotherapy groups facilitated by clinicians with a MSW and LCSW and less engaged than expected in psychotherapy groups with MA and LPC facilitators.

MSWs and LCSWs are social workers, while MAs and LPCs are counselors. It is possible that social work programs are preparing graduates to engage psychiatric patients in group process more effectively than is being done in counselor preparation programs. Since counselors become group facilitators in psychiatric inpatient facilities, it is important that they be prepared to facilitate such groups in an effective manner, which would include finding ways to motivate patients to participate.

The final question addressed in the study was if there was a significant relationship between the topics presented in the group psychotherapy session and a patient's participation and attendance in psychotherapy group treatment while psychiatrically hospitalized. However, the results of the study indicated that there was no significant relationship between topics presented and patients' attendance or participation in psychotherapy groups.

The fact that there was no significant relationship between the topic presented in group psychotherapy and patients' attendance and participation was understandable. Patients were not informed in advance of the topics that would be presented in psychotherapy groups. The topic was presented after the group members had arrived and typically started as a check-in with patients (as documented in many of the group psychotherapy notes). Perhaps in a different inpatient facility, group topics might be announced to patients in advance in an effort to encourage attendance.

Obviously when topics of groups are not announced, the topic of the group will not have an effect on participation. On the other hand, it would seem that patients would participate more or less depending on the topic of groups. However, in this study, that was not found to be the case. The topic of the groups had no effect on patients' participation once they were attending a group. From the results of this study, it appears that other factors, such as clinical conditions of patients and credentials of clinicians have an impact on patient participation, while the topic of the group does not.

57

DISCUSSION

The results of this study suggest that not all patients are benefitting from psychotherapy while admitted to an inpatient hospital. This study determined that three clinical characteristics (medication compliance, antipsychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnoses) predict a patients' attendance and participation in psychotherapy groups. The ability to identify patients who are more likely not to attend group enables mental health professionals to create additional interventions to achieve similar results and decrease recidivism.

The results of this study offers mental health professionals insight into patients' motivation to attend psychotherapy groups and identify those who may not attend or benefit from the intervention. Additionally, mental health professionals could create and offer these patients alternative interventions and strive to make inpatient treatment interventions more patient-centered versus a traditional group psychotherapy approach. Optimal interventions might include a Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) theoretical orientation behavior training approach to focus on increasing education (e.g., medication management and support), social skills, and coping skills. Problem solving approaches are empirically validated and are able to make a strong impact in a short amount of time (Sautter, Heaney, & O'Neill 1991). Interventions can be created and offered in group and individual formats by mental health professionals. Mental health professionals might consider creating highly structured (Yalom 1983) psycho-educational programs for patients who do not attend psychotherapy groups. Structured CBT groups or individual interventions could also be facilitated by unlicensed master's level paraprofessionals with

supervision from mental health professionals, providing a therapeutic and cost effective option.

Perhaps those in charge of the care of patients who are hospitalized need to seek alternatives to group sessions for severely mentally ill patients. Alternative treatments might include individual psychotherapy, crafts, exercise, or other activities that would stimulate patients.

Data collected for the study indicated in some of the documentation from group psychotherapy progress notes that some alternative treatment options were offered. It was sometimes noted that patients were offered handouts from the psychotherapy group missed or they were offered the option of an individual session. However, in the charts reviewed for this study, there were very few documented instances where a patient accepted the offer for an individual session with the facilitator.

Upon examination of the literature, there is a large gap in the scholarly research focused on characteristics of patients who attend and engage in inpatient group therapy. Due to decreased availability of beds and shortened length of stay in psychiatric inpatient facilities, it is important to maximize the therapeutic benefit to the patient while admitted to help decrease recidivism.

IMPLICATIONS

Mental health professionals may find the results of this study to have beneficial implications. The three predictors of inpatient psychotherapy group attendance and participation were compliance with medications, antipsychotic medications, and comorbid Axis I diagnosis. Individuals with clinical characteristics including non-complaint with medications, prescribed antipsychotic medications, and have comorbid

Axis I diagnoses is indicative of a patient severely mentally ill upon admission. Based on the results of this study, there is a strong likelihood that these patients will not attend or participate in the group psychotherapy sessions offered and therefore this intervention will be of no benefit. Group psychotherapy does not work for these patients.

This study contributed to the limited literature in the mental health field regarding inpatient group therapy and hopefully will stimulate additional research studies on this topic.

The outcome of this study suggests further studies are needed to examine alternative interventions for patients who refuse or are too psychologically impaired to attend and participate in inpatient group psychotherapy sessions traditionally offered. Future studies are needed to examine alternative interventions to group psychotherapy for patients who refuse or are too psychologically impaired to attend and participate.

Table 1Descriptive Demographic Characteristics

| Characteristics | Number (Percent) | |
|------------------|------------------|--|
| N | 150 | |
| Age | | |
| Range | 18-65 | |
| Mean Age | 37.45 | |
| Gender | | |
| Male | 61 (40.7%) | |
| Female | 89 (59.3%) | |
| Ethnicity | | |
| Caucasian | 103 (68.7%) | |
| African American | 38 (25.5%) | |
| Hispanic | 7 (4.7%) | |
| Asian | 2 (1.3%) | |
| SES | | |
| Insured | 123 (82%) | |
| Uninsured | 27 (18%) | |
| Marital Status | | |
| Single | 81 (54%) | |
| Married | 52 (34.7%) | |
| Divorced | 13 (8.7%) | |
| Widowed | 4 (2.7%) | |

Table 2

. .

| | | Unstandardized Coefficients | | Standardized Coefficients | | |
|------|-------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------|------------------------------|--------|------|
| Mode | el | В | Std. Error | Beta | t | Sig. |
| 1 | Not Medication Compliant | 361 | .107 | 269 | -3.384 | .001 |
| 2 | Not Medication Compliant | 331 | .106 | 246 | -3.120 | .002 |
| | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic Medicines | 124 | .053 | 184 | -2.333 | .021 |
| 3 | Not Medication Compliant | 342 | .105 | 255 | -3.275 | .001 |
| | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic Medicines | 140 | .053 | 207 | -2.649 | .009 |
| | Co-morbid Diagnoses | 118 | .050 | 183 | -2.350 | .020 |

| Predicting Percentage | of Attendance in Pa | sychotherapy Groups | by Clinical Characteristics |
|-----------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-----------------------------|
| | | | |

Table 3

Predicting Percentage of Participation in Psychotherapy Groups by Clinical Characteristics

| Model | | Unstandardized Coefficients | | Standardized Coefficients | | |
|-------|---------------------------------------------|--------------------------------|------------|------------------------------|--------|------|
| | | В | Std. Error | Beta | t | Sig. |
| 1 | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic Medications | 505 | .153 | 263 | -3.308 | .001 |
| 2 | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic | 452 | .150 | 236 | -3.008 | .003 |
| | Not Medication Compliant | 856 | .299 | 224 | -2.859 | .00 |
| 3 | Prescribed Anti-Psychotic | 493 | .150 | 257 | -3.288 | .00 |
| | Not Medication Compliant | 885 | .296 | 232 | -2.988 | .003 |
| | Comorbid Diagnoses | 299 | .142 | 164 | -2.108 | .037 |

REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER SIX

- Baker, N., & Geise, A. (1992). Reorganization of a private psychiatric unit to promote collaboration with managed care. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 43, 1126-1129.
- Blake, D., Owens, M., & Keane, T. (1990). Increasing group attendance on a psychiatric unit: An alternating treatments design comparison. *Journal of Behavior Therapy* and Experiential Psychiatry, 21, 15-20. doi:10.1016/0005-7916(90)90044-L
- Burlingame, G., & Barlow, S. (1996). Outcome and process differences between professional and nonprofessional therapists in time-limited group psychotherapy. *International Journal of Group Psychotherapy*, 46, 455-478.
- Cohen, J. (1992). Quantitative methods in psychology: A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, 112, 155-159. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Compton, M., Craw, J., & Rudisch, B. (2006). Determinants of inpatient psychiatric length of stay in an urban county hospital. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 77, Summer 2006. doi: 10.1007/s11126-006-9005-z
- Dacey, C. M. (1989). Inpatient group psychotherapy: Cohesion facilitates separation. *Group, 13* (1), Spring 1989.
- Davis, R., Olmsted, M., & Rockert, W. (1990). Brief group psychoeducation for bulimia nervosa: Assessing the clinical significance of change. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 58, 882-885. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.58.6.882
- Davis, R., Olmsted, M., Rockert, W., Marques, T., & Dolhanty, J. (1997). Group psychoeducation for bulimia nervosa with and without additional psychotherapy process sessions. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 22, 25-34.

doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199707)22:1<25::AID-EAT3>3.0.CO;2-4

- Fanget, F. (1999). Treatment of social phobias: Efficacy of cognitive and behavioral group therapy. *Encephale*, 25, 158-168.
- Farley, P. (1998). Current practices in general hospital group psychotherapy. Ph.D.
 dissertation, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, United States –
 Virginia.
- Fuhriman, A., & Burlingame, G. (1990). Consistency of matter: A comparative analysis of group and individual process variables. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 18, 6-63. doi:10.1177/0011000090181002
- Hartmann, A., Herzog, T., & Drinkmann, A. (1992). Psychotherapy of bulimia nervosa:
 What is effective? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 36, 159-167. doi:10.1016/0022-3999(92)90024-V
- Heimberg, R., Dodge, C., Hope, D., Kennedy, C., Zollo, L., & Becker, R. (1998).
 Cognitive behavioral group therapy versus phenelzine therapy for social phobia:
 12 week outcome. Archives of General Psychiatry, 55, 1133-1141.
 doi:10.1001/archpsyc.55.12.1133
- Hope, D., McLoughlin, K., & Bruch, M. (1995). Dismantling cognitive-behavioral group therapy for social phobia. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 33, 637-650. doi:10.1016/0005-7967(95)00013-N
- Kibel, H. D. (1992). Diversity in the practice of inpatient group psychotherapy in North America. *Group Analysis*, 25, 22-245. doi:10.1177/0533316492252009
- Kösters, M., Burlingame, G., Nachtigall, C., & Strauss, B. (2006). A meta-analytic review of the effectiveness of inpatient group psychotherapy. *Group Dynamics:*

Theory, Research, and Practice, 10, 146-163. doi:10.1037/1089-2699.10.2.146.

- Kuhns, M. (1997). Treatment outcomes with adult children of alcoholics: Depression. Advanced Practical Nursing Quarterly, 3, 64-69.
- Lambert, M. (2004). Bergin and Garfield's handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change (5th ed.). New York: John Wiley.
- Lazell, E. (1921). The group treatment of dementia praecox. *Psychoanalytic Review*, 8, 168 179.
- McNamee, J., Lipman, E., & Hicks, F. (1995). A single mothers' group for mothers of children attending an outpatient psychiatric clinic: Preliminary results. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 40, 383-388.
- Mitchell, J., Pyle, R., Pomeroy, C., Zollman, M., Crosby, R., Seim, H., Eckert, E., & Zimmerman, R. (1993). Cognitive-behavioral group psychotherapy of bulimia nervosa: Importance of logistical variables. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 14, 277-287. doi:10.1002/1098-108X(199311)14:3<277::AID-EAT2260140306>3.0.CO;2-8
- Murphy, S. (1997). A bereavement intervention for parents following the sudden, violent deaths of their 12-28-year-old children: Description and application to clinical practice. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 29, 51-72.

Page, A., & Hooke, G. (2009) Increased attendance in inpatient group psychotherapy improves patient outcomes. *Psychiatric Services*, 60, 426-428.
doi:10.1176/appi.ps.60.4.426

Peterson, C., Mitchell, J., Engbloom, S., Nugent, S., Mussell, M., & Miller, J. (1998). Group cognitive-behavioral treatment of binge eating disorder: A comparison of therapist-led versus self-help formats. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 24, 125-136.

doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199809)24:2<125::AID-EAT2>3.0.CO;2-G

- Santa Ana, E., Wulfert, E., & Nietert, P. (2007). Efficacy of group motivational interviewing (GMI) for psychiatric inpatients with chemical dependence. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 75, 816-822.
- Sautter, F., Heaney, C., & O'Neill, P. (1991). A problem-solving approach to group psychotherapy in the inpatient milieu. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 42, 814-817.
- Scholing, A., & Emmelkamp, E. (1993). Exposure with and without cognitive therapy for generalized social phobia: Effects of individual and group treatments. *BehaviorResearch Therapy*, *31*, 667-681. doi:10.1016/0005-7967(93)90120-J
- Scott, M., & Stradling, S. (1990). Group cognitive therapy for depression produces clinically significant reliable change in community-based settings. *Behavioral Psychotherapy*, 18, 1-19. doi:10.1017/S014134730001795X
- Springer, T., & Silk, K. (1996). A review of inpatient group therapy for borderline personality disorder. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 3(5), 268-278. doi:10.3109/10673229609017194.
- Strauss, B., & Burgmeier-Lohse, M. (1994). Inpatient long-term group psychotherapy: A contribution to empirical psychotherapy research within the inpatient setting.
 Heidelberg: Asanger.
- Tschuschke, V. (2004). Group psychotherapy: The unknown and ignored psychotherapeutic treatment option. *Psychotherapeut, 49*, 101–109.

Van Noppen, B., Pato, M., Marsland, R., & Rasmussen, S. (1998). A time limited behavioral group for treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of Psychotherapy Practice and Research*, 7, 272-280.

Vaughn, K, Webster, D., Orahood, S., & Young, B. (1995). Brief inpatient psychiatric treatment: Finding solutions. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 16, 519-531. doi:10.3109/01612849509009396

Yalom, I. (1983). Inpatient group psychotherapy. New York: Basic Books.

REFERENCES

- Baker, N., & Geise, A. (1992). Reorganization of a private psychiatric unit to promote collaboration with managed care. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 43,1126-1129.
- Blake, D., Owens, M., & Keane, T. (1990). Increasing group attendance on a psychiatric unit: An alternating treatments design comparison. *Journal of Behavior Therapy* and Experiential Psychiatry, 21, 15-20. doi:10.1016/0005-7916(90)90044-L
- Brabender, V, & Fallon, A. (1993). *Models of inpatient group psychotherapy*.Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/10121-000
- Burlingame, G., Earnshaw, D., Hoag, M., Barlow, S., Richardson, E., & Donnell, A.
 (2002). A systematic program to enhance clinician group skills in an inpatient psychiatric hospital. *International Journal of Group Psychotherapy*, *52*, 555–587. doi:10.1521/ijgp.52.4.555.45523
- Burlingame, G., & Barlow, S. (1996). Outcome and process differences between professional and nonprofessional therapists in time-limited group psychotherapy. *International Journal of Group Psychotherapy*, 46, 455-478.
- Cohen, J. (1992). Quantitative methods in psychology: A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, 112, 155-159. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Compton, M., Craw, J., & Rudisch, B. (2006). Determinants of inpatient psychiatric length of stay in an urban county hospital. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 77, Summer 2006. doi: 10.1007/s11126-006-9005-z
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (3rd ed.). London: Sage Publications.

Craw, J., & Compton, M. (2006). Characteristics associated with involuntary versus voluntary legal status at admission and discharge among psychiatric inpatients. *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41, 981-988. doi: 10.1007/s00127-006-0122-7

- Dacey, C. M. (1989). Inpatient group psychotherapy: Cohesion facilitates separation. *Group*, 13 (1) Spring 1989.
- Davis, R., Olmsted, M., & Rockert, W. (1990). Brief group psychoeducation for bulimia nervosa: Assessing the clinical significance of change. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 58, 882-885. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.58.6.882
- Davis, R., Olmsted, M., Rockert, W., Marques, T., & Dolhanty, J. (1997). Group psychoeducation for bulimia nervosa with and without additional psychotherapy process sessions. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 22, 25-34. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199707)22:1<25::AID-EAT3>3.0.CO;2-4
- Fanget, F. (1999). Treatment of social phobias: Efficacy of cognitive and behavioral group therapy. *Encephale*, 25, 158-168.
- Farkas-Cameron, M. (1998). Inpatient group therapy in a managed environment:
 Application to clinical nursing practice. Journal of the American Psychological
 Nurses Association, 4, 145-154. doi: 10.1177/107839039800400503
- Farley, P. (1998). Current practices in general hospital group psychotherapy. Ph.D.
 dissertation, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, United States –
 Virginia.
- Fuhriman, A., & Burlingame, G. (1990). Consistency of matter: A comparative analysis of group and individual process variables. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 18, 6-

63. doi:10.1177/0011000090181002

Hartmann, A., Herzog, T., & Drinkmann, A. (1992). Psychotherapy of bulimia nervosa:
What is effective? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 36, 159-167. doi:10.1016/0022-3999(92)90024-V

Heimberg, R., Dodge, C., Hope, D., Kennedy, C., Zollo, L., & Becker, R. (1998).
Cognitive behavioral group therapy versus phenelzine therapy for social phobia:
12 week outcome. Archives of General Psychiatry, 55, 1133-1141.
doi:10.1001/archpsyc.55.12.1133

- Hope, D., McLoughlin, K., & Bruch, M. (1995). Dismantling cognitive-behavioral group therapy for social phobia. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 33, 637-650. doi:10.1016/0005-7967(95)00013-N
- Hudson, T., Owen, R., Thrush, C. et al. (2004). A pilot study of barriers to medication adherence in schizophrenia. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 65 (2), 211–216.
- Kanas, N. (1985). Inpatient and outpatient group therapy for schizophrenic patients. American Journal of Psychotherapy, 3, 431-440.
- Kibel, H. D. (1992). Diversity in the practice of inpatient group psychotherapy in North America. *Group Analysis*, 25, 22-245. doi:10.1177/0533316492252009
- Kösters, M., Burlingame, G., Nachtigall, C., & Strauss, B. (2006). A meta-analytic review of the effectiveness of inpatient group psychotherapy. *Group Dynamics: Theory, Research, and Practice, 10*, 146-163. doi:10.1037/1089-2699.10.2.146.
- Kuhns, M. (1997). Treatment outcomes with adult children of alcoholics: Depression. Advanced Practical Nursing Quarterly, 3, 64-69.

Lambert, M. (2004). Bergin and Garfield's handbook of psychotherapy and behavior

change (5th ed.). New York: John Wiley.

- Lazell, E. (1921). The group treatment of dementia praecox. *Psychoanalytic Review*, 8, 168 179.
- Liu-Seifert, H., Adams, D., Ascher-Syanum, H., Faries, D., & Kinon, B. (2007). Patient perception of medication benefit and early treatment discontinuation in a 1-year study of patients with schizophrenia. *Patient Preferences and Adherence*, 1, 9–17.
- Marczyk, G., DeMatteo, D., & Festinger, D. (2005). Essentials of research design and methodology. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley.
- McDuff, D., Cohen, M., Blais, L., Stevenson, W., & McWilliams, E. (2008). Trauma recovery services for psychiatric inpatients. *Journal of Psychological Trauma*, 7, 47-61. doi:10.1080/19322880802125993.
- McNamee, J., Lipman, E., & Hicks, F. (1995). A single mothers' group for mothers of children attending an outpatient psychiatric clinic: Preliminary results. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 40, 383-388.
- Mitchell, J., Pyle, R., Pomeroy, C., Zollman, M., Crosby, R., Seim, H., Eckert, E., & Zimmerman, R. (1993). Cognitive-behavioral group psychotherapy of bulimia nervosa: Importance of logistical variables. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 14, 277-287. doi:10.1002/1098-108X(199311)14:3<277::AID-AT2260140306>3.0.CO;2-8
- Murphy, S. (1997). A bereavement intervention for parents following the sudden, violent deaths of their 12-28-year-old children: Description and application to clinical practice. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 29, 51-72.

Oehl, M., Hummer, M., & Fleischhacker, W. (2000). Compliance with antipsychotic

treatment. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 102 (Suppl. 407), 83.

- Page, A., & Hooke, G. (2009) Increased attendance in inpatient group psychotherapy improves patient outcomes. *Psychiatric Services*, 60, 426-428.
 doi:10.1176/appi.ps.60.4.426
- Parloff, M., & Dies, R. (1977). Group psychotherapy outcome research 1966-1975. International Journal of Group Psychotherapy, 27, 281-319.
- Perkins, D. (2002). Predictors of noncompliance in patients with schizophrenia. *Journal* of Clinical Psychiatry, 63, 1121–1128.
- Peterson, C., Mitchell, J., Engbloom, S., Nugent, S., Mussell, M., & Miller, J. (1998).
 Group cognitive-behavioral treatment of binge eating disorder: A comparison of therapist-led versus self-help formats. *International Journal of Eating Disorders,* 24, 125-136. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199809)24:2<125::AID-EAT2>3.0.CO;2-G
- Rhea, M. (1977). Evaluation and outcome of a brief group therapy program for a limited psychiatric inpatient population. Ph.D. dissertation, University of Utah, United States- Utah.
- Roan, L. (2001). Group therapy with severely mentally ill men in an inpatient psychiatric hospital setting. Psy.D. dissertation, Spalding University, United States – Kentucky.
- Rose, S., & Tolman, R. (1994). Social work for group research: Challenges for the 1990's. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *4*, 139-141.
- Santa Ana, E., Wulfert, E., & Nietert, P. (2007). Efficacy of group motivational interviewing (GMI) for psychiatric inpatients with chemical dependence. *Journal*

of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 75, 816-822.

- Sautter, F., Heaney, C., & O'Neill, P. (1991). A problem-solving approach to group psychotherapy in the inpatient milieu. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, 42, 814-817.
- Schindler, V. (1999). Group effectiveness in improving social interaction skills. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 22, 349.
- Scholing, A., & Emmelkamp, E. (1993). Exposure with and without cognitive therapy for generalized social phobia: Effects of individual and group treatments.
 Behavior Research Therapy, 31, 667-681. doi:10.1016/0005-7967(93)90120-J
- Scott, M., & Stradling, S. (1990). Group cognitive therapy for depression produces clinically significant reliable change in community-based settings. *Behavioral Psychotherapy*, 18, 1-19. doi:10.1017/S014134730001795X
- Seidler, G. (2000). The self relatedness construct: Empirical verification via observation in the context of inpatient group therapy. *Group Analysis*, 33, 413-432. doi:10.1177/05333160022077425
- Spivack, N. (2008). Inpatients in group psychotherapy: Linking dependency and counterdependency. *International Journal of Group Psychotherapy*, 58, 231-253. doi:10.1521/ijgp.2008.58.2.231

Springer, T., & Silk, K. (1996). A review of inpatient group therapy for borderline personality disorder. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, *3*, 268-278. doi:10.3109/10673229609017194.

Strauss, B., & Burgmeier-Lohse, M. (1994). Inpatient long-term group psychotherapy: A contribution to empirical psychotherapy research within the inpatient setting.

Heidelberg: Asanger.

- Tschuschke, V. (2004). Group psychotherapy: The unknown and ignored psychotherapeutic treatment option. *Psychotherapeut, 49,* 101–109.
- Van Noppen, B., Pato, M., Marsland, R., & Rasmussen, S. (1998). A time limited behavioral group for treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of Psychotherapy Practice and Research*, 7, 272-280.
- Vaughn, K, Webster, D., Orahood, S., & Young, B. (1995). Brief inpatient psychiatric treatment: Finding solutions. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 16, 519-531. doi:10.3109/01612849509009396
- Weiden, P., & Olfson, M. (1995). Cost of relapse in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin, 21, 419–429.
- Weiss, P. (2010). Time-limited dynamic psychotherapy as a model for short-term inpatient groups. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 40, 41-49. doi: 10.1007/s10879-009-9124-6
- Yalom, I. (1983). Inpatient group psychotherapy. New York: Basic Books.
 Yalom, I., & Lesczc, M. (2005). The theory and practice of group psychotherapy (5th ed.). New York: Basic Books.

APPENDIX

HUMAN SUBJECTS COMMITTEE APPROVAL



DARDEN COLLIGGE OF EDUCATION Origen up via Den Noncolk, Viacana 27529-0156 Physics (757) 683-3938 Fax: (757) 683-5083

May 13, 2010

Proposal Number __200902129__

Professor Remley:

Your proposal submission titled, "Inpatient Psychotherapy Groups: Predicting Attendance and Participation" has been deemed EXEMPT by the Human Subjects Review Committee of the Darden College of Education. If any changes occur, especially methodological, notify the Chair of the DCOE HSRC, and supply any required addenda requested of you by the Chair. You may begin your research.

We have approved your request to pursue this proposal indefinitely, provided no modifications occur. Also note that if you are funded externally for this project in the future, you will likely have to submit to the University IRB for their approval as well.

PRIOR TO THE START OF YOUR STUDY, you must send a <u>signed</u> and dated <u>hardcopy</u> of your exemption application submission to the address below. Thank you.

Eduin & Edwin Gómez, Ph.D.

Associate Professor Chair, Human Subjects Review Committee, DCOE Human Movement Studies Department Old Dominion University 2010 Student Recreation Center Norfolk, VA 23529-0196 757-683-6309 (ph) 757-683-4270 (fx)

CURRICULUM VITAE

Sharon E. Silverberg earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Biology and a Bachelor of Science degree Psychology in 1998 from Old Dominion University and a Master of Arts degree in Community Psychology from The University of New Haven in 2003. She is a licensed professional counselor, licensed marriage and family therapist, national certified counselor, certified sex offender treatment provider, and registered play therapist supervisor.

Ms. Silverberg is an editorial review board member of the *Arizona Counseling Journal*. She has presented and co-presented at national, regional, and state level conferences on a variety of subjects, including mental status exams, play therapy, and trauma.

Ms. Silverberg has provided therapeutic and clinical services for clients ranging from the mildly impaired to the severely chronically mentally ill in a variety of settings including inpatient, outpatient, residential, and in-home.

Ms. Silverberg is an active member of several national professional organizations including the American Counseling Association (ACA), the Association for Play Therapy (APT), and the Association for Counselor Education and Supervision (ACES).